
Contact:  Paul Mountford, Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01270 686472 
E-Mail: paul.mountford@chehsireeast.gov.uk  

 

Cabinet Members for Communities & 
Regulatory Services and Prosperity & 

Economic Regeneration 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Monday 18th June 2012 
Time: 9.00 am 
Venue: Committee Suite 1 & 2, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests in any item on the agenda. 
 

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a period of 10 minutes is 

allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter relevant 
to the work of the meeting. Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 
minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of time 
allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged. 
 
Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
 
4. Options for the Transfer of Alderley Edge Allotments  (Pages 1 - 26) 
 
 To consider a report on the options for the transfer of Alderley Edge Allotments 

 
 
 
THERE ARE NO PART 2 ITEMS 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet Members for Communities & Regulatory 
Services and Prosperity & Economic Regeneration 
 
Report of: Strategic Director of Places and Organisational Capacity  

Subject/Title: Options for the Transfer of Alderley Edge Allotments  

Portfolio Holders: Councillors Rachel Bailey and Jamie Macrae 

 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 As part of the Council’s localism aspirations a decision was taken by 

Cabinet in September 2011 to transfer a number of assets and services to 
the relevant town and parish councils. This included the transfer of 
allotments and gave authority to the Strategic Director (Places and 
Organisational Capacity), Section 151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer to 
finalise agreed legal and financial terms.  This included Heyes Lane, 
Chorley Hall Lane and Beech Close allotment sites to Alderley Edge Parish 
Council. 

 
1.2 As part of the process the Council published its notice of intention to 

dispose of all the allotment sites in February and March 2012. At a meeting 
of the delegated officers (listed in 1.1) on 16th April 2012 the decision as to 
whether to dispose of the sites in Alderley Edge was referred to the relevant 
portfolio holder(s). This was having considered a relatively large number of 
objections and public interest in the disposal.  
 

1.3 Appendix A to this report summarises the main representations and 
objections made in writing in respect of the proposal to grant a long lease of 
each site to the Parish Council.   
 

1.4 The report also provides background information on the stated aspirations 
of the Parish Council for possible alternative use of the allotment site at 
Heyes Lane which is adjacent to the Festival Hall. Appendix B is a 
statement of the representations made by the Parish Council as to the 
merits of the treatment of parcels of land in Alderley Edge as briefly 
described in section 10.9. The Allotment and Garden Society have made 
specific requests in terms of considering this transfer which are attached at 
Appendix C.  
 

2.0 Decision Requested 
 
2.1 It is recommended that Option 1 below is confirmed as the preferred option. 

That is that the allotment sites are transferred to the Parish Council by long 
lease containing restrictive covenants preserving their use as allotments. 
This recommendation has taken regard of the Cabinet decision in 
September 2011, council policy on transfer; the nature and volume of the 

Agenda Item 4Page 1



objections to any transfer of the allotment sites and the views of the 
Allotment and Garden Society and Parish Council.   
 

2.2 Option 1    
 
To dispose of the allotment sites in accordance with the agreed Cabinet 
decision on 5th September 2011 and by long lease of 125 years containing 
restrictive covenants preserving their use as allotments for nil value. This is 
in accordance with the anticipated method of transfer approved by Cabinet 
“with allotments likely to be transferred by long lease”. It is also consistent 
with transfers across Cheshire East.  A restrictive covenant would prohibit 
the Parish Council from using the land other than for allotments, transferring 
the sites to a third party or creating sub-leases other than to an allotment 
society or allotment holders. See section 10.10.   

 
2.3      Option 2. 
 

To dispose of the allotments sites to the Parish Council as in Option 1 but 
also containing extra controls in favour of the Council as requested by 
Alderley Edge Allotments and Gardens Society (AEAGS). See Section 
10.12. This provides an additional control by Cheshire East but could be 
against the spirit of the transfer process which is to devolve decision making 
to the most local tier of government. It is arguable that this would be 
interfering in the contractual relationship of landlord and tenant which will 
exist between the Allotment Society and the Parish Council.  

 
2.4      Option 3   

 
Cheshire East to retain the allotments sites given the level of objections. 
This would be inconsistent with Council policy on transfer and the prospect 
of applications to run the site(s) under the Community Right to Transfer 
would be an ongoing possibility. This is, therefore, only a short term option.  

 
2.5      Option 4 

 
To explore an alternative delivery model for all/any of the allotments sites 
which would include transfer as in option 1 above to an alternative 
community group. This is not in accordance with the Cabinet decision which 
was to offer the transferring assets to the relevant parish council. Only if the 
relevant local council did not wish to run the service/asset was the next step 
considered. The Cabinet report of September 2011 says “Where local 
councils decide not to take over the services proposed for transfer within 
this initiative, the future of such facilities needs to be determined.” If goes on 
to outline the possible solutions. 
 

2.6     Option 5 
 
To further consider the transfer of the freehold interest in the allotment sites 
to the Parish Council. If this is the preferred option then there are a number 
of legal considerations as to how this could be achieved fairly and without 

Page 2



breaching best value principles. These range from transfer with or without 
restrictive covenants; for a nil value to a range of capital receipt values; with 
or without an overage entitlement if there is a change of use or onward 
disposal. This option is different to the transfers being agreed across the 
remainder of Cheshire East and would need to consider that the original 
cabinet decision specifically noted that “there is a presumption that the 
transfer of assets will protect community use of the assets.”  A freehold 
transfer without the restrictive covenant restricting use to allotments would 
require Secretary of State consent. See section 8.2.1 
 

3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 

3.1 In order to progress the Cabinet decision of September 2011 a decision on 
the best option for the Alderley Edge allotment sites is required. A number 
of significant assets have now transferred across Cheshire East, in 
accordance with the cabinet decision and in order to complete this first 
phase of transfer a way forward is required.  

 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 Alderley Edge 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1      Councillor Frank Keegan 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including – Carbon Reduction 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1   The transfers are in line with the council policy of transfer and 
 devolution of assets and services to Town and Parish councils.  
 
6.2 This initiative aligns with the first priority of the Sustainable Community 

Strategy “nurturing strong communities” and is part of Cheshire East’s 
stated drive to ensure that working locally is at the heart of what it does. 

 
6.3 National Policy is designed to decentralise government and give 

communities power to make a difference in their area. This initiative clearly 
aligns with this national drive.   
 

7.0 Financial Implications (Authorised by the Director of Finance and 
Business Services) 

 
7.1. The options to transfer the allotments to the parish council or alternative 

delivery model/ group (1, 2, 4) are in line with the original decision of 
Cabinet on 5th September 2011 and the financial implications have 
therefore previously been considered.  

 
7.2 If option 3 was the preferred option i.e. to retain the allotments there is a 

small financial implication in that the management of the allotments would 

Page 3



remain the responsibility of Cheshire East. This is a marginal cost. This 
option would be a short term option as it introduces an inconsistency in 
policy where Cheshire East has decided to dispose/transfer of this type of 
asset.  

 
7.3 If option 5 were to be pursued then the asset value would be transferring 

and therefore consideration of best value principles and the capital receipt 
values would need to be pursued to ensure the best financial solution for 
Cheshire East. This would require the on-going input of the Director of 
Finance and Business Services. 

 
8.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
8.1   The Council has taken legal advice from Bevan Brittan LLP, a firm with           

a strong reputation in the field of local government law, in respect of the           
public law and probity issues and considerations surrounding the linked           
transactions affecting five pieces of land in Alderley Edge described in           
section 10.7. 

 
Bevan Brittan LLP’s advice, which is confidential to the Council and to which 
legal professional privilege attaches, has been provided to the Portfolio 
Holder.  
 
That advice includes, but is not limited to, advice on the following issues 
namely: best consideration, fiduciary duty, State aid and the effect of the 
Crichel Down Rules on land acquired to deliver the Alderley Edge and 
Nether Alderley Bypass. 

 
Instructions to Bevan Brittan LLP included the information summarised in 
sections 10.7 – 10.9 and the representations of the Parish Council set out in 
Appendix C. However, at the time instructions were issued it was believed 
that PCT would be the operator of the medical centre the Parish Council 
wish to create within Festival Hall. 

 
Aspects of Bevan Brittan LLP’s advice pertinent to the decisions requested 
of the Portfolio Holder appear in sections 8.3 –8.6. 
 
The Portfolio Holder must have regard to the legal advice given by Bevan 
Brittan LLP’s as well as other Legal Implications set out in this section of this 
Report when making a decision as requested above. 

       
8.2 Public Open Space Disposal   
 

In accordance with Section 123 (2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
Council is legally obliged to publish notice of its intention to dispose of open 
space for two consecutive weeks in a newspaper circulating in the area in 
which the open space is situated. In the context of the transfer and 
devolution of assets to Town and Parish Councils, approved on 5th 
September 2011, the Council has advertised the proposed disposal of the 
three allotment sites to the Parish Council. 

Page 4



As well as a requirement to advertise, Section 123 (2A) provides that a 
principal council may not dispose of open space unless, before disposing of 
the open space, consideration is given to the objections / representations 
made. Objections / representations were made in relation to the three 
Alderley Edge allotment sites and a single objection / representation was 
made in respect of disposals of allotment sites in each of two other towns/ 
parishes: Nantwich and Poynton. 
 

8.3 Allotment Legislation 
 
8.3.1   Section 8 Allotments Act 1925 provides: 
 

“Where a local authority has purchased (or appropriated) land for use as 
allotments the local authority shall not sell, appropriate, use or dispose of 
the land for any purpose other than use for allotments without the consent of 
the (Secretary of State DCLG) and such consent may be given conditionally 
or subject to such conditions as the Secretary of State thinks fit ……” 

 
Therefore, if the allotments are statutory allotments (which is generally 
understood to be the case) and the Council proposes to dispose of them for 
purposes other than allotments user, the consent of the Secretary of State is 
required to the disposal. 

 
If the Council disposes of the freehold in an allotment site to the Parish 
Council and the Parish Council then wishes to change the use of the 
allotment the consent of the Secretary of State is required to the change of 
use. Section 8 concludes to say that the consent will not be given unless the 
Secretary of State is satisfied that “adequate provision” will be made for the 
displaced allotment holders or the provision is unnecessary or not 
reasonably practicable. The Netherfield/ Lydiat Lane site referred to in 
section10 might be “adequate provision” assuming ownership and planning 
permission for its use is secured. 

 
8.3.2  Section 30 Small Holdings and Allotment Act 1908 allows a notice to quit to 

be served on an allotment tenant living more than a mile beyond the area 
for which the allotments are provided. 

 
8.4      Best Consideration 
 

The Council has powers under Section 123 of the Local Government Act 
1972 to dispose of land (whether by freehold sale or lease) but cannot 
dispose of any land for less than the best consideration that can be obtained 
except with the consent of the Secretary of State. The specific consent of 
the Secretary of State is needed to any sale at less than best consideration 
unless the Council can rely on a general disposal consent. Other disposals 
of land to Town and Parish Councils are being undertaken in reliance on the 
General Disposal Consent (England) 2003 which can be relied on if 

           
(a) The Council considers that the purpose for which the land is to be 

disposed is likely to contribute to the achievement of any  one or more of 

Page 5



the following objects of the whole or any part of its area, or all or any 
persons resident or present in its area:  

 
•  The promotion or improvement of economic well-being; 
•  The promotion or improvement of social well-being; 
•  The promotion or improvement of environmental well-being;  

  
(b) The difference between the unrestricted value of the land to be  

disposed of and the consideration for the disposal does not exceed £2m; 
and  

 
(c) All other conditions and requirements of the consent are satisfied. 
 
Therefore the Council needs to satisfy itself that any transfer to the Parish 
Council at nil value will not represent an undervalue of greater than £2 
million and also that any disposal will fit within its well-being powers.  In 
considering Option 5 in circumstances where there might be a transfer 
without restrictive covenants the Portfolio holder musty be mindful that the 
treatments of the 5 sites described in section 10.7 are closely interlinked 
and it is necessary to examine exactly what public benefits will be derived 
from the Parish Council’s proposals, and also whether these benefits are 
likely to be delivered i.e. there needs to be some reasonably well defined 
outcome which is proposed to promote or improve the well-being in 
question.  
 
Therefore, the Portfolio Holder must analyse each site and determine the 
intended benefits. 

 
The salient legal advice the Council has from Bevan Brittan LLP, on the 
facts known to them, can be summarised as follows: 
 
(a)  it is questionable whether the Council facilitating the conversion of an 

allotment site to car parking would fit within its well-being powers and 
derive significant public benefits. 

 
(b) It is unclear whether the relocation of the medical practice in Alderley 

Edge will be of any direct benefit to the community.  
 

(c) Alderley Edge Girls School (AEGS) has stated that in order to remain 
competitive it needs to have all weather pitches available to the school 
but this is not a matter for the Council, as AEGS is an independent 
school that does not benefit the public at large.   If the Council does not 
secure any public benefit the transfer would not meet the requirements 
of the Disposal Consent as there are no tangible public benefits being 
derived from the Wilmslow Road site being sold at an undervalue. If 
AEGS were to agree to allow public access to their new playing fields 
facility this would provide some justification for disposing of the site at 
undervalue as there would be an obvious benefit to the local community. 

 

Page 6



(d) no public benefits will be derived from the relocation of the                   
allotment site and if the Netherfields / Lydiat Lane site is not as                   
advantageous as the Heyes Lane site it could be argued that the                   
proposals run counter to the Council’s well-being powers. 

 
Bevan Brittan LLP conclude, based on the information supplied to them, that 
any decision to dispose of Heyes Lane or Wilmslow Road at an undervalue 
would not be in accordance with the requirements of the Disposal Consent 
and would be at significant risk of challenge on the basis the Council would 
have acted outside of its statutory powers. 
 

8.5       Fiduciary Duty 

The Council owes a fiduciary duty to local council tax payers and even if the 
Council is of the view that it is appropriate to dispose of any site in 
accordance with the Disposal Consent it will need to have regard to its 
general fiduciary duty.  This is owed to the council tax payers from whom it 
obtains the monies needed to carry out its statutory functions.  A local 
authority cannot exercise a statutory power without regard to this duty and if 
it purports to do so it is acting beyond its statutory powers.  This includes a 
duty to deploy the financial resources that are available to it to the best 
advantage. Furthermore such a decision must satisfy the Wednesbury test 
of reasonableness.  In general, therefore, there must be exceptional 
reasons for any disposal to be at less than the best consideration and this 
would only usually arise if there was a general benefit to the wider 
community, not just to a private interest.  
 

  8.6 State Aid issues 
 
All disposals need to comply with European Commissions State Aid rules. 
When land is disposed of by a public authority to an undertaking carrying on 
an economic activity at an undervalue a subsidy will be provided to the 
transferee.  Where this occurs, local authorities have to ensure that the 
nature and amount of the subsidy complies with State aid rules, as a failure 
to do so could render the aid unlawful and mean that the recipient has to 
pay it back together with interest.  The Council has previously had advice 
that, ordinarily, the transfer of assets to Town and Parish Councils at nil 
value does not create a State aid issue, that the ultimate risk in an improper 
State aid situation is borne by the aid recipient in any event and that if any 
Town or Parish Council grants State aid to third parties via the use of the 
assets it acquires it is difficult to see how that would rebound on the Council 
in any way.  However, there could be an issue if any Parish or Town Council 
“goes into business” utilizing the asset received. 

  
8.7  Crichel Down Rules  
 
 The Wilmslow Road site is subject to the Crichel Down Rules as although it 

was acquired by private treaty, the land was under the threat of compulsory 
acquisition at the time. This means the site should be offered back to the 
former owner or its successor in title at the current market value. If the 
former owner does not wish to purchase the surplus land or terms cannot 

Page 7



be agreed the Council will be free to dispose of the land on the open 
market. If the former owner wishes to buy the land and terms are agreed 
within the relevant period the Council must transfer the land to the former 
owner. The Council is in the process of offering all land surplus to the 
Alderley Edge and Nether Alderley Bypass to former owners. 

 
8.8 Freehold Covenants 
 
 As stated in section 10.10 of this report the Heyes Lane site was transferred 

to a predecessor council of Cheshire East in 1917 subject to a covenant 
that it could not be used other than as allotments and other recreational 
uses. 

 
 The benefit of restrictive covenants can be assigned or pass to purchasers 

of land which the covenants were intended to benefit but (a) even if people 
have the benefit of these covenants, there may be difficulties in enforcing 
them or securing a remedy preventing a change of use and (b) it would be 
open to the Council or a successor in title to apply under Section 84 of the 
Law of Property Act 1925 to have the covenants released or modified. 

 
 If the Council were to dispose of the Heyes Lane site by way of a long 

lease, the Council could be the respondent in any claim for breach of the 
freehold covenant. 

 
 If the Council were to dispose of the Heyes Lane site by way of a freehold 

transfer, the purchaser from it would most likely be the respondent in any 
claim for breach of the freehold covenant as it would be the landowner but, 
as the Council, albeit it in its capacity as a predecessor authority, was the 
contracting party, it could also be a respondent as a contracting entity. 

 
8.9    Potential to dispose of a freehold interest in any / all allotment          

sites 
 

 Whilst the Cabinet approval of 5th September 2011 does not preclude the 
transfer of the freehold interest in any allotment site, the Council, in papers 
made available for public inspection as part of the public open space 
advertisement process referred to above, confirmed these disposals would 
each be by way of a 125 year lease. 

 
 If the Portfolio Holder is minded to approve the sale of the freehold interest 

in one or more of the sites then, before any decision to sell the freehold is 
made, new advertisement(s) under Section 123 (2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 would have to be placed and the statutory process 
relevant to open space as described in section 8.1 would have to be 
repeated. 

 

Page 8



8.10  The Parish Council’s ability to secure vacant possession of allotment 
sites  

 
 Whilst the first draft standard leases in respect of each allotment (and all 

allotments across Cheshire East) make transfers subject to any existing 
allotment society leases and any direct leases of plots to allotment holders, 
these arrangements are capable of termination in a variety of circumstances 
and, therefore the rights of the societies and plot holders are not 
safeguarded. 

 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 There is a risk that the intention of transferring assets for community use 

and to the most local tier of government will not be achieved depending on 
which of the above options is preferred. Option 1 preserves the use of the 
asset for allotments 

 
9.2 There is a risk that the parish council will not accept the transfer on the 

terms offered and that further work will be required to find an alternative 
delivery model. 

 
9.3 There is a risk that the allotment society, allotment holders and/or the 

objectors will not be satisfied that the preferred option gives them enough 
protection and complies with their interests. 

 
9.4 There is a risk that the parish council will be prevented from achieving their 

aspirations if the preferred option is not perceived to be in line with their 
redevelopment plans 

 
9.5 If Option 5 is the preferred option there is a risk that Cheshire East will 

breach best value considerations. Further work and discussions would be 
required to mitigate this risk if option 5 was the preferred option. 

 
10.0 Background and Options 
 
Cabinet Decision 
 
10.1 On 5th September 2011 a decision was taken by Cabinet in to transfer a 

number of assets and services to the relevant town and parish councils. 
This included the transfer of three allotment sites in Alderley Edge at Heyes 
Lane, Chorley Hall Lane and Beech Close.  

 
10.2 As part of this decision Cabinet gave delegated authority to the             

Strategic Director (Places and Organisational Capacity), Section 151    
Officer and the Monitoring Officer to finalise agreed legal and financial terms 
for a package of transfers (or leases) of the assets and functions to Town 
and Parish Councils. There was to be a presumption that the transfer of 
assets would protect community use of the assets and following from the 
Cabinet meeting the Officers to whom authority was delegated approved 

Page 9



generic heads of terms for all the assets and confirmed that allotment 
transfer would be by long lease.  

 
Public Notice 
 
10.3 In accordance with Section 123 (2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 

Council published notice of its intention to dispose of all the allotment sites 
for two consecutive weeks in newspapers circulating in the areas where the 
sites are situated.  The Council complied with this statutory requirement in 
respect of the three Alderley Edge allotment sites by placing adverts in the 
Wilmslow Express on 29th February and 7th March 2012.  The closing date 
for objections was 21 March 2012.  As well as a requirement to advertise, 
Section 123 provides that a principal Council may not dispose of land which 
consists of, or forms part of open space unless, before disposing of the 
land, consideration is given to objections which are made. 

 
10.4  The advertising of the Council’s intention to dispose of Heyes Lane, Chorley 

Hall Lane and Beech Close allotment sites resulted in a number of 
objections (129) being received.  The majority were received before the 
closing date for comments.   The three decision making officers (see 10.2), 
considered the objections on 16th April 2012 and decided to refer the 
decision as to whether to dispose of some/ all of the sites to the Portfolio 
Holder and also to refer to him the decision as to the method and terms of 
disposal to be adopted. 
 

Summary of Objections 
 
10.5 Appendix A contains further information outlining the objections. There were 

a total of 129 objections and the salient points made by the objectors are 
that the Parish Council has shown no interest in the allotments and is 
openly planning to use the site (Heyes Lane) for development purposes and 
the other two sites for housing.  Further issues are a fear that the open 
allocation policy will cease and that there will be disputes between the 
Parish Council and the Allotment and Garden Society. In addition, that there 
is a lack of regard for plot holders, the impact from lack of green space, loss 
of wildlife and recreational uses.  

 
Other Relevant Factors 
 
10.6 It is relevant to this decision to provide background information in respect of 

the Council’s understanding of the Parish Council’s aspirations for Heyes 
Lane. Its aspirations, if any, for the other allotment sites are not known to 
the Council although note the objectors` concerns that these two sites could 
be used for housing. 

 
10.7 There are five areas of land most relevant to the feedback from objectors 

and the stated aspirations of the parish council  
 

• Site of Festival Hall; freehold ownership of the Parish Council  
• Allotment site off Heyes Lane; freehold ownership of the Council  

Page 10



• Land off Wilmslow Road; freehold ownership of the Council 
• Land at Lydiat Lane/Netherfields; believed to be within the freehold 

ownership of Alderley Edge School for Girls (AESG) 
• Garage site off Wilmslow Road; believed to be within the freehold 

ownership of Russell Homes  
 
10.8 The Heyes Lane site is currently occupied for allotment purposes and is 

believed to be a statutory allotment. It was gifted to the Council’s 
predecessor authority in 1917 out of an estate  subject to a covenant that it 
could not be used other than as open space, recreational ground, playing 
fields, allotments and public gardens. Statutory allotments have the benefit 
of statutory protection. See Section 8 of this report in that regard. 

 
The Wilmslow Road site was acquired by private treaty as a part of a larger 
transaction to enable the construction of the Alderley Edge bypass.  AESG 
expressed an interest in acquiring this green belt land from Cheshire County 
Council prior to Local Government Review. They have re-stated this interest 
to the Council. 

 
The Council has received an approach from the Parish Council to acquire 
the Wilmslow Road site at nil cost as a catalyst to initiate a series of 
transactions which it considers will address a number of long standing 
issues within Alderley Edge. 

 
10.9 The Parish Council are seeking to initiate the following; 
 

a) The relocation of (an) existing medical practice(s) in Alderley Edge to 
part of the Festival Hall  

 
b) To undertake (a) there is a requirement for additional car parking for the 

Festival Hall and the provision of a new public entrance into Festival 
Hall. The adjacent Heyes Lane allotment site is necessary to facilitate 
these requirements.  

 
c) The garage site is currently occupied by the existing garage under 

lease/licence and the current owner is seeking to progress residential 
development on the site. There is a desire to retain the garage facility 
within Alderley Edge and the Heyes Lane allotment site may be an 
appropriate site. 

 
d) The Heyes Lane allotment site would need to be relocated within 

Alderley Edge. The Netherfields/Lydiat Lane site is considered by the 
Parish Council to be suitable for this purpose. 

 
e) There is a longstanding on street parking issue in the Netherfields/Lydiat 

Lane area and it is considered that the development of the 
Nethersfield/Lydiat Lane site and the provision of off street parking 
facilities will assist this situation. 

 

Page 11



f) AESG have identified a shortfall in their current recreational facilities but 
despite it being in their ownership, they do not consider that the 
Netherfields/Lydiat Lane site is suitable for this purpose. They have 
identified the Wilmslow Road site as an appropriate site.  

 
g) The Parish Council consider that the transfer of the Heyes Lane 

allotments   to them by the Council at nil premium will initiate the above 
events whilst minimising cost to the residents of Alderley Edge. 

 
Restrictive Covenants 
 
10.10 Evidently, the Parish Council would not be entitled to develop the Heyes 

Lane site and use it as it wishes if the Council grants a long lease of it and 
imposes within it the standard restrictive covenants it intends to impose in 
leases of other allotments sites across the Borough, as set out in the next 
paragraph, and enforces those covenants. 

 
The key standard restrictive covenants are covenants prohibiting use of the 
land other than for allotment purposes and prohibiting transfers on or 
subleases by the Town/ Parish Council other than short leases to allotment 
holders or an allotment society.  

  
Additionally the Heyes Lane allotment site is subject to restrictive covenants 
restricting its use to allotment and other recreational uses which may benefit 
i.e. may be enforceable by third parties including local land owners. The 
allotment site will remain subject to these covenants if it is disposed of 
whether by freehold transfer or by lease. 

 
Additional controls and amendments to the standard lease 
 
10.11 All three allotment sites are currently leased to Alderley Edge Allotments 

and Gardens Society (AEAGS). The Parish Council would take the 
allotment sites subject to the AEAGS leases but those are determinable in 
certain circumstances, including if development is intended. The Parish 
Council has made it known that it has taken legal advice as to how to obtain 
vacant possession of the Heyes Lane Site. 

 
10.12 AEAGS through the Chair of a Sub-committee formed to consider the 

proposed changes in management wrote to the Borough Solicitor on  
23 April. Principally AEAGS seeks amendment to the standard lease to 
allow an open allocation policy and for the Council to retain management 
control and to resolve disputes between the Parish Council and AEAGS. 
The Council has confirmed through its external lawyers and officers that the 
substantive points in the Allotment Society’s letter will be considered by the 
Portfolio Holder before any action is taken. The letter is attached at 
Appendix C.  

 

Page 12



11.0 Access to Information 
 

           The background papers other than relating to this report can be inspected 
by contacting the report writer: 

 
  Name: Vivienne Quayle     

 Designation:  Head of Performance, Customer Services and Capacity  
            Tel No: 01270 685859  
             Email:  vienne.quayle@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Email:  christopher.allman@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 
 

 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

Summary of Objections 

The Council is the freehold owner of three allotment sites at Heyes Lane,  
Chorley Hall Lane and Beech Close. On 5th September 2011 Cabinet approved the 
proposal to transfer the functions of allotments under long lease to Alderley Edge 
Parish Council.   

The advertising of the Council’s intention to dispose of the three allotment sites 
resulted in a number of objections being received.  The majority were received 
before the closing date for comments.  These objections have been acknowledged 
by the Council and the objectors informed that their objections will be considered. 

A summary of the main grounds for objection are as follows:- 

1. The Alderley Edge Parish Council (AEPC) has not shown any interest in the 
allotments and does not intend to promote allotment use.  AEPC has not 
made public its plans for the management and funding of the allotments and 
does not have the skills to manage the allotments nor do they have the 
administrative base.  AEPC does not follow a proper democratic process in 
that they have not minuted meetings in which the allotments have been 
discussed and not allowed questions or public discussion at meetings.  The 
grant of a lease should be delayed until AEPC holds a public consultation. 

2. AEPC wants to use the allotment sites for development purposes.  It has been 
quoted in the local press as having taken advice from a QC and intends to 
relocate the existing Heyes Lane allotments to Lydiat Lane (land owned by 
Alderley Edge School for Girls) to enable redevelopment of the by the 
construction of a car park for the new medical centre next door and the 
possible construction of housing and a motor repair garage on the remainder 
of the site.  There are concerns that the other two sites will be used for 
housing.  

3. Alderley Edge Allotments and Gardens Society (AEAGS) have responded 
saying that they currently lease the sites and to transfer them to the Parish 
Council would be to do so knowing that it is against the wishes of a large 
proportion of people who live in Alderley Edge and that any lease should 
contain covenants to prevent changes of use on all of the sites, allow plot 
holders from thorough out Cheshire East, maintain an open allocation policy, 
allow for dispute resolution between the AEPC and AEAGS. 

4. The allotment tenants have not been kept informed or consulted by Cheshire 
East Council who do not know the terms on which AEPC will hold the land 

5. The site should be transferred to an alternative such as a community interest 
group and other interested parties should be given an opportunity to tender for 
the lease  

6. Heyes Lane site is subject to a covenant which prevents development.   

    APPENDIX A 

Page 15



   
 

7. A lack of regard for plotholders attachment to the site and the time and effort 
to cultivate a new site, transfer of plants and buildings, car parking and other 
facilities 

8. The impact on the village/loss of green space  there is a change of use (also 
drainage issues and increase in traffic pollution/congestion if use changes) 

9. Re-development of new site to allotment use will result in loss of open space 
for other recreational uses 

10. Heyes Lane site has an open water course which supports wildlife and should 
be protected 

11. Allotments are green spaces which should remain in the hands of Cheshire 
East  
 

Objector Heyes 
Lane 

 

Chorley Hall Lane 
 

Beech Close 
 

1 ü  ü  ü  
2 ü    
3 ü    
4 ü  ü  ü  
5 ü    
6 ü    
7 ü  ü  ü  
8 ü  ü  ü  
9 ü  ü  ü  
10   ü  
11 ü    
12   ü  
13 ü  ü  ü  
14 ü  ü  ü  
15  ü   
16 ü    
17 ü  ü   
18 ü    
19  ü   
20 ü  ü  ü  
21 ü    
22 ü  ü  ü  
23  ü   
24 ü  ü  ü  
25 ü    
26 ü    
27 ü  ü  ü  
28 ü  ü   
29 ü  ü  ü  
30 ü  ü  ü  
31 ü  ü  ü  

Page 16



   
 

32 ü  ü  ü  
33 ü  ü  ü  
34 ü  ü  ü  
35 ü  ü  ü  
36 ü  ü  ü  
37 ü  ü  ü  
38 ü  ü  ü  
39 ü  ü  ü  
40 ü    
41 ü    
42 ü  ü  ü  
43  ü   
44 ü    
45 ü    
46 ü  ü  ü  
47 ü    
48 ü  ü  ü  
49 ü    
50 ü    
51 ü  ü  ü  
52 ü  ü  ü  
53 ü  ü  ü  
54 ü  ü  ü  
55 ü  ü  ü  
56 ü  ü  ü  
57 ü  ü  ü  
58 ü  ü  ü  
59 ü  ü  ü  
60  ü   
61  ü   
62 ü  ü  ü  
63  ü   
64  ü   
65 ü  ü  ü  
66 ü  ü   
67 ü  ü  ü  
68 ü  ü  ü  
69 ü  ü  ü  
70  ü   
71 ü  ü  ü  
72 ü  ü  ü  
73 ü    
74 ü    
75 ü    
76 ü    
77 ü  ü  ü  
78 ü  ü  ü  
79 ü  ü  ü  

Page 17



   
 

80 ü    
81 ü  ü  ü  
82 ü  ü  ü  
83 ü  ü  ü  
84 ü  ü  ü  
85 ü  ü  ü  
86 ü  ü  ü  
87 ü  ü  ü  
88 ü  ü   
89 ü    
90 ü    
91 ü  ü  ü  
92 ü  ü  ü  
93 ü    
94 ü  ü  ü  
95 ü  ü  ü  
96 ü  ü  ü  
97 ü  ü  ü  
98 ü  ü  ü  
99 ü  ü  ü  
100 ü  ü  ü  
101  ü  ü  

102 ü    
103 ü  ü  ü  
104 ü    
105 ü  ü  ü  
106 ü    
107 ü    
108 ü  ü  ü  
109 ü  ü  ü  
110 ü  ü   
111 ü  ü  ü  
112 ü  ü  ü  
113  ü    
114 ü  ü  ü  
115 ü  ü  ü  
116 ü    
117 ü    
118 ü  ü  ü  
119 ü  ü  ü  
120 ü  ü  ü  
Late 
Receipts 

   

121 ü  ü  ü  
122 ü  ü  ü  
123  ü   
124 ü    

Page 18



   
 

125 ü  ü  ü  
126 ü  ü  ü  
127 ü  ü  ü  
128 ü  ü  ü  
129 ü  ü  ü  

 

 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



   
 

Alderley Edge Parish Council Representations 
 
Alderley Edge Parish Council (AEPC) have made the following representations to 
support their reasoning: 
 
A fee means a direct deal with the Girls School, and the Parish Council is cut out of 
the transaction. 
  
The Parish Council would prefer a transfer at nil fee, which is allowable under the 
legislation. The reasons for the nil fee would be: 

• The Parish Council would give a long lease to the Girls School at no cost to 
them, in exchange and, 

• The Girls School would give the Parish Council a long lease on their playing 
fields off Netherfields, and, 

• The Heyes Lane Allotments would transfer to the playing fields off 
Netherfields, and, 

• The Heyes Lane Allotments would become available for parking for the 
Medical Centre and the revamped Festival Hall, and, 

• The Heyes Lane site could also house the repair garage currently situated on 
Trafford Road, and which has 1,500 customers in Alderley Edge. A transfer or 
long lease of area no.2 to Russell Homes or the garage proprietor would 
facilitate this. 

There are compelling grounds for a nil transfer fee/ premium. Cheshire East Council 
(CEC) could also impose a covenant in the transfer/lease of area no.3 to the AESG 
that the parking which will be created on the Wilmslow Road site will be reserved as 
a drop off base for the parents who come from the Wilmslow side to the school. The 
parking issue at the Brook Lane/Lynton Lane side of the village has no other means 
of being addressed other than through a removed drop off site. 
  
AEPC could not pay a fee to the Girls School for their playing fields; AEPC is already 
stretched by having to find funds for the upgrade of the Festival Hall (The Medical 
Centre is self funded). If CEC deals directly with the Girls School, the Parish Council 
would have no parking for the Festival Hall/Medical Centre - the allotment holders 
will not move willingly or quickly. 
  
The most crucial part in this timeline is the ability to do something to decant the 
garage from Trafford Road; if that business closes for any length of time, the 
business will be lost to the village. 
 

     APPENDIX B 
Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



          

 

 

$i5du13ri.doc Saved: 8 June 2012 

Lease of allotments at Heyes Lane, Alderley Edge: Comments on draft last edited on 8 March 2012 

Comments in italics will apply to the generic lease for any of the allotments in Cheshire East, and in particular to the two other allotment 
sites in Alderley Edge – those at Chorley Hall Lane and Beech Close. 
 

No. Reference Comment 

 Substantive changes  

1. Whole We request that, as a party named in the lease and with a strong interest in its terms, the Alderley Edge 
Allotments and Gardens Society be given sight of the lease after it has been amended in any way 
following receipt of comments on the draft from Alderley Edge Parish Council, and allowed 21 days 
thereafter to submit further comments on that draft, before it is executed. 

2. 1.1 Waste The definition of Waste should be amplified to explicitly exclude compost and manure. 

3. 2.1 The phrase "reserving in the rents" is far from Plain English and is not commonly used in commercial 
leases; "subject to the rent being paid" would be clearer. 

4. 3 Rights and 
Reservations 

The Lease should, in this section, cite the Covenant entered into in 1950 by Alderley Edge Urban District 
Council with representatives of the De Trafford family which restricts the use of the Premises to a public 
recreation ground, playing field, allotments or public garden – see Item 1 in the Charges Register of the 
Land Registry Title Number CH385477, and the mineral rights in Item 2 of the Property Register for the 
same Title Number. See suggested wording at 3.4 below. 

5. 3.1.1 The Lease needs to grant the rights for agents of PE Jones to maintain the foul sewer that runs beneath 
the Premises – see Item 4 in the Charges Register of Land Registry Title Number CH385477. 

Appendix C 

P
age 23



 

2 of 4 

No. Reference Comment 

6. 3.3 Does this clause protect all existing plot-holders from immediate termination of their plot tenancies, eg 
those who are resident in Cheshire East, but not resident in Alderley Edge Civil Parish? If not, please 
add a clause to that effect. 

7. 3.3, line 2  For clarity insert, before “and to any other rights…”, the words “as set out in the Society’s Agreement 
with Macclesfield Borough Council, dated 3 December 1976, including that Society's right to manage the 
allotments on a day-to-day basis”. We understand from a communication from Mr George Broughton, 
Parks Manager, CEC that it is his anticipation that that Agreement will continue in force unless it is 
formally terminated in accordance with the provisions of that Agreement. [Note also the textual 
correction in this Clause set out below.] 

8. 3.4 For clarity and the avoidance of doubt, at the end of this Clause add "These include: the undertaking 
given by Alderley Edge Urban District Council to the de Trafford estates to preserve this land as a public 
recreation ground, playing field, allotments or public gardens; and the access granted to PE Jones 
(Contractors) Ltd to maintain a foul sewer beneath the Premises." 

9. 4 Replace "The rent is to pay a principal rent annually" with "The Tenant is to pay a Principal Rent 
annually" 

10. 6,2,1, line 3 Delete “or 147”. Section 147 of the Law of Property Act 1925 is only applicable to the internal decoration 
of a building; this is not relevant to these Premises, where only garden sheds are permitted by Clause 
7.4. 

11. 7.2 Add, at end of existing clause: “to maintain the existing water supply to and within the Premises, and to 
maintain drainage within the Premises adequately to aid cultivation.” 

12. 7.2, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 Add at the start of each Clause “The Tenant is”. Without this addition the responsibility for each of the 
duties in these clauses is undefined. 

13. 7.5, line 1 Delete "the Premises for residential purposes or" as this duplicates the succeeding clause, 7.6. 

P
age 24



 

3 of 4 

No. Reference Comment 

14. 10.2 Clause should be modified to permit the deposition on the Premises of reasonable quantities of compost 
and manure, without hazarding watercourses or habitats. 

15. 13, line 7 Replace "the same" with "the Society", as the current text is ambiguous as to whether "the same" refers 
to the Society or to the Agreement. 

16. End of document Provision should be made for the signature of an authorised signatory on behalf of Alderley Edge Parish 
Council. The authority to sign should be evidenced by the passage of a formal resolution of the Parish 
Council in Part I of its agenda, and Cheshire East should require written evidence of the approval of that 
resolution. 

 Typing & other 
textual errors 

 

17. 1.4, line 1 "this", not "his". 

18. 3.1.1, line 2 "(except in the case of emergency)", not "(and except in the case of emergency)". 

19. 3.1.1 subclauses Should be numbered 3.1.1.1 and 3.1.1.2, not 3.2.1.1 and 3.2.1.2. 

20. 3.2, line 1 Reference to Clause 3.2 from within Clause 3.2 is incorrect; it is not clear what Clause should be 
referenced here. 

21. 3.3, line 2 Delete "Allotments and Gardens Society" in line 2 – retain in line 1-2. 

22. 6.1, line 2 Delete "utility costs," in line 2 as this duplicates "utility costs" in line 3. 

23. 8.4, line 1 Insert "of" after "cultivate any part". 

24. 8.4, line 2 "as are reasonable", not "as a reasonable". 

25. 8.4, lines 5-6 Delete "a maximum of" as this is tautological with "not exceed". 

P
age 25



 

4 of 4 

No. Reference Comment 

26. 15, line 2 Replace "Seller" with "Landlord". 

27. 15, line 8 Replace "Seller" with "Landlord". 
 

P
age 26


	Agenda
	4 Options for the Transfer of Alderley Edge Allotments
	AppendixASummaryiofObjections
	AppendixBrepresentationofparishcouncil
	Appendix C Comments on Lease of allotments at Heyes Lane Alderley Edge


